

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Möllering, Guido

Working Paper Market constitution analysis: A new framework applied to solar power technology markets

MPIfG Working Paper, No. 09/7

Provided in Cooperation with: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies (MPIfG), Cologne

Suggested Citation: Möllering, Guido (2009) : Market constitution analysis: A new framework applied to solar power technology markets, MPIfG Working Paper, No. 09/7, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/41699

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

MAX-PLANCK-INSTITUT FÜR GESELLSCHAFTSFORSCHUNG MAX PLANCK INSTITUTE FOR THE STUDY OF SOCIETIES



MPIfG Working Paper 09/7

Guido Möllering Market Constitution Analysis A New Framework Applied to Solar Power Technology Markets

MPIfG Working Paper

for the Study of Societies

Guido Möllering Market Constitution Analysis: A New Framework Applied to Solar Power Technology Markets

MPIfG Working Paper 09/7 Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung, Köln Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne July 2009

MPIfG Working Paper ISSN 1864-4341 (Print) ISSN 1864-4333 (Internet)

© 2009 by the author(s)

Guido Möllering is a researcher at the Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies. This working paper was written partly during his time as a Visiting Scholar at the Center on Organizational Innovation, Columbia University, New York in March and April 2009.

moellering@mpifg.de

MPIfG Working Papers present ideas that could guide future scholarly research. They may also draw out the implications of available knowledge for a better understanding of public-policy issues. MPIfG Working Papers are refereed scholarly papers.

Downloads

www.mpifg.de Go to Publications / Working Papers

Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies Paulstr. 3 | 50676 Cologne | Germany

Tel. +49 221 2767-0 Fax +49 221 2767-555

www.mpifg.de info@mpifg.de

Abstract

This paper outlines an integrative framework for the analysis of market constitution and explores its application to solar power technology markets. These markets are currently still in the making and, therefore, particularly suited to studying constitutive processes and the elements that play a role in them. In applying the framework to the constitution of solar power technology markets in Germany from the mid-1990s, the paper focuses on three examples of how constitutive mechanisms that trigger and drive market constitution processes and shape the constitutive elements of markets operate in distinct but interrelated ways: exploitation of technical inventions, business diversification, and political entrepreneurship. The analysis shows the role of market actors in "making" a market at the same time as these actors evidently become "marketized" by adopting market logic. Markets cannot be taken for granted in the field of solar power technologies or, rather, their actual taken-for-grantedness is one measure of the degree to which their constitution has been achieved.

Zusammenfassung

Der Beitrag stellt einen integrativen Analyserahmen für die Entstehung und Entwicklung von Märkten vor und wendet ihn explorativ auf Solartechnologiemärkte an. Da diese Märkte aktuell noch im Entstehen sind, eignen sie sich besonders für die Untersuchung konstitutiver Prozesse und der ihnen zugrunde liegenden Elemente. In der Anwendung des Analyserahmens auf Solartechnologiemärkte in Deutschland ab Mitte der 1990er-Jahre liegt der Schwerpunkt auf drei Beispielen dafür, wie verschiedene konstitutive Mechanismen den Marktentstehungsprozess auslösen und antreiben, dabei nicht nur getrennt wirken, sondern auch zusammenspielen und somit insgesamt die konstitutiven Marktelemente formen. Die Beispiele beziehen sich auf die Nutzung technischer Erfindungen, Geschäftsbereichsdiversifizierung und politisches Unternehmertum. Die Analyse zeigt, welche Rolle Marktakteure bei der Erschaffung eines Marktes spielen, während sie selbst zugleich durch die Übernahme der Marktlogik "vermarktlicht" werden. Märkte sind im Feld der Solartechnologie keine Selbstverständlichkeit. Vielmehr kann man an dem Grad, zu dem sie selbstverständlich geworden sind, ablesen, wie weit die Etablierung des Marktes schon erreicht wurde.

Contents

1	Introduction	5
2	Outline of an analytical framework for market constitution	8
	Definitions of markets and market constitution phases	9
	Constitutive elements of markets	10
	Market constitution processes	11
	Uncertainty and constitutive tensions in markets	14
	Constitutive mechanisms	15
	Framework boundaries, inputs, and outputs	16
	Implications of the framework for empirical studies of markets	17
3	Examples from solar power technology markets: Green inventors, diversifying giants, and political entrepreneurs	18
	Spontaneous emergence: Green inventors turned global business players	20
	Endogenous coordination: Diversifying giants looking for dominance	23
	Exogenous regulation: A political entrepreneur generating momentum	24
4	Summary, discussion, and conclusion	26
Re	ferences	27

1 Introduction

Multidisciplinary critiques of neoclassical market theory have given rise to a wealth of current research on various aspects of empirical markets that have been denied or neglected before (see for example Aspers 2006; Beckert 2009; Fligstein 2001; Lie 1997; Swedberg 2003). We have replaced references to "the market" with accounts of a broad empirical variety of markets in the plural and their typical preconditions, processes, and outcomes. Callon (1998: 47) emphasizes: "It is wrong to talk of laws ... of the market. There exist only temporary, changing laws associated with specific markets." Along with a richer empirical basis, many theoretical perspectives of markets have been proposed alongside each other, conceptualizing markets as, for example, institutions, fields, systems, cultures, networks, regimes, discourses, practices, and mechanisms. Without denying the important contributions that have been made, a critical appraisal suggests that this field of research is relatively fragmented and in need of more integrative work and, further, that the concept of "market" is applied very loosely, calling for a reconsideration of what distinguishes markets from other socio-economic phenomena (see also Fligstein/Dauter 2007; Fourcade 2007). How can we make sure that when we talk about markets - and remind ourselves that every market is special - we are talking about roughly the same phenomenon, i.e. markets? How do various "markets-as-[insert favorite concept]" perspectives come together?

This call for integration and specificity in research on markets recognizes that any shared account of markets is more a social construction than an approximation to a positivistic reality. It is an epistemological rather than ontological endeavor to identify common points of reference for making sense of markets. Such points of reference are needed, though, to be able to discuss such things as the role of actors in market constitution. To what extent are they "making markets" or "made by markets"? Common points of reference are also needed to conceive of *different* forms and types of markets without losing the remaining similarities between them.

In this paper, I briefly outline a general framework for the analysis of market constitution (Figure 1). My approach takes into account that market economies consist of a multitude of interrelated markets and overarching institutional contexts (Fligstein 2001; White 2002). However, the purpose is neither to explain the constitution of entire market economies and capitalisms nor to shed light on the development of the social preconditions for markets in general (see for example Beckert 2009; Greif 2006; Fourcade/Healy 2007; Weber [1922]1978). While these aspects do come into play, my core interest is in developing a method for understanding how individual markets are

I thank Patrik Aspers, Jens Beckert, Daniel Beunza, Anita Engels, Peter Karnøe, Sigrid Quack, Raymund Werle, and Rolf Wüstenhagen for their very helpful comments on previous versions of this paper, Sabine Stumpf for her research assistance, and John Booth and Cynthia Lehmann for their language editing. The paper has also benefited from feedback at the Energizing Markets Conference in Copenhagen, October 30–November 1, 2008, as well as from lively discussions with colleagues during my time as Visiting Scholar at Columbia University, New York, in March and April 2009.





constituted, using solar power technology markets as a case in point. Special attention is given to how actors come to participate in such a market and shape its constitution, which involves – in a structuration theoretical sense – its initial establishment as well as continued reproduction and modification. However, while borrowing from structuration theory (particularly Giddens 1984), I prefer to refer to the *constitution of markets* in the general dictionary sense of "constitution" as the process of establishing, making (up), or forming markets (cf. *Oxford English Dictionary Online*), rather than solely to the *structuration* of markets in a narrower technical sense associated mainly with Giddens.

I build on a definition of markets as systems of discrete but related economic exchanges between self-interested actors who are in competition with each other. Note that selfinterest and competition are regarded here as part of the *role* that market actors are expected to adopt and enact (more or less competently) and not as a given "natural propensity" (Smith [1776]1976: 17) of supposedly rational human beings and their organizations. The framework summarized in Figure 1 is based on the following logic: Market exchanges are possible when certain constitutive elements are in place. The elements are generated and reproduced in constitutive processes by which they gain their typical "market" features. In these processes, the problem of dealing with uncertainty is pivotal (Beckert 1996, 2009) and contains a number of tensions that influence whether and how a market can be constituted. Further, the processes which shape the constitutive elements of markets are triggered and driven by three different mechanisms: spontaneous emergence, endogenous coordination, and exogenous regulation. Finally, market constitution is framed by resources and interests on the "input" side and individual and collective outcomes on the "output" side (see Figure 1 for a full overview).

In applying the framework to solar power technology markets, I will focus on three examples of how the constitutive mechanisms operate in distinct but interrelated ways: the exploitation of technical inventions, business diversification, and political entrepreneurship. My analysis shows that the provision of solar power technology in *markets* (instead of other systems of exchange) is a complex social, economic, and technological accomplishment. The market cannot be taken for granted in this empirical case or, rather, the degree of its actual taken-for-grantedness is one measure of its constitution (degree of institutionalization).

This paper includes an illustrative account of how the market for solar power technology developed in Germany in the mid-1990s and beyond. From there being virtually no solar power installations in Germany in 1990, the market for this technology began to grow until the end of the decade at an average rate of around 50% in capacity, but still a modest overall volume with a total capacity of 36 MWp (megawatt peak) photovoltaic solar power in 1997 and 100 MWp in 2000. Since then, the growth has accelerated and over 800 MWp of capacity have been added (and technology sold) every year since 2004 (BMU 2008). This development is marked by important government initiatives in Germany, first with the Electricity Feed-in Law (Stromeinspeisungsgesetz) in 1991 and its successors in 2000 and 2004 - representing "the key element of renewable energy policy in Germany" (Wüstenhagen/Bilharz 2006: 1685) - and second with the Solar Electricity Program (100.000 Dächer-Solarstrom-Programm) of 1999. Remarkable new companies were founded in the 1990s, entered the stock market, and became key global players in this sector (see below). With the framework proposed in this paper, we can analyze the constitution of this market from many angles and thus avoid simplistically attributing the market's emergence to regulation. Instead, we can focus in more detail on the constitution process from 1996 to 2000, when the market was in the making but was not yet as established as it was from 2001 onwards.

Systematic theoretical research on market constitution processes is rare. Fligstein (2001: 14) complains that too little consideration has been made of "where new markets come from." It is telling that his contribution emphasizes the "architecture" of markets. He discusses the stable structures required for markets in general, but much less so the processes of building a specific market. Similarly, White's (1981) seminal piece on where markets come from proposes an analysis of particular network structures rather than the constitutive processes that produce these structures (see also White 2002). Building largely on White, Aspers (2009) seeks to answer the question of *how* markets are made and, in particular, how order is achieved in new markets.

New Institutional Economics, on the other hand, is concerned mainly with the question of when coordination through a market is preferable to hierarchical (or hybrid) solutions, but again it hardly considers the processes involved in implementing or adapting a particular market (e.g. North 1990; Williamson 1975), despite some exceptions (Ensminger 1992). Alternatively, research in New Institutional Economics equates the firms' role in the creation of new markets narrowly with firms' activities in finding new customers with or without developing and commercializing new products (Anderson/ Gatignon 2005). Making a market, however, involves more than just making more sales.

The approach developed in this paper contributes to a broader understanding of *how* markets are constituted as systems of exchange – rather than *why* they are constituted and *what* they look like when they are established. My main interest here is in the "marketization" of individual exchange systems. Research building on the work of Callon (1998; Callon/Muniesa 2005) has moved in the same direction, highlighting constitutive processes and the mobilization of resources.

2 Outline of an analytical framework for market constitution

It is the primary purpose of this paper to describe a general framework that can be used to analyze how different empirical markets are constituted over time. In this section I introduce and briefly explain the main assumptions and ideas behind the framework. The ambition of this paper and the framework in particular is not (yet) to devise a *theory* of markets, but to propose *heuristic* categories for understanding market constitution processes. In other words, the current added value is the provision of a fairly comprehensive and integrative set of things to consider and questions to ask when analyzing markets empirically. The comparability of studies on different empirical markets will be increased if they are analyzed using the framework described here. In response to Fligstein and Dauter (2007: 106–107), who identify "three theory groups" and worry about the sociology of markets resembling "the blind monks and preachers who fail to see the whole elephant in Buddha's famous parable," the framework presented here aims to be more comprehensive and integrative than the dominant perspectives to date

(see also the reference to "three major camps" by Fourcade 2007: 1019). The presentation of the framework in this section follows Figure 1 from bottom to top, i.e. from markets to mechanisms, and readers might like to keep referring to this figure as the text progresses.

Definitions of markets and market constitution phases

I propose that the analysis of market constitution should start from the following basic definition, which focuses on exchanges with particular characteristics: A market is a system of discrete but related economic exchanges between self-interested actors who are in competition with each other. The central phenomenon in what we refer to as a "market" is the economic exchange as such, i.e. the activity of buying and selling (Aspers 2005; Coriat/Weinstein 2005; Weber [1922]1978). A single, isolated exchange does not make a market, but it can be the seed of an emerging market. The existence of a market presumes that multiple exchanges take place over time. These exchanges are similar to each other, but discrete. At the same time, each exchange has to be seen in relation to other relevant exchanges occurring in the past, present, or future. The market represents a system of all the discrete exchanges that are related to each other. It will be part of the analysis to understand how, and to what extent, exchanges in a given empirical market have acquired these characteristics and a degree of "systemness" (Giddens 1984: 283) across time and space.

My proposed definition of markets also specifies the character, or "spirit," of the exchanges in order to distinguish market exchanges from other interactions between actors (see also Biggart/Delbridge 2004). Following Weber ([1922]1978: 635–636), market exchanges are characterized as economic exchanges performed voluntarily among selfinterested, intendedly rational actors (and any agents acting on their behalf) who are in peaceful, non-violent competition with each other over the arrangement and conditions of exchanges.¹ Self-interest and competition serve definitional rather than normative purposes here and enable us to distinguish markets from other exchange systems. Market actors, as such, seek to make deals to their own advantage (see also Aspers 2009: 6).

Actual markets vary significantly in size, stability, and sophistication. Nevertheless, *when market exchanges are regularly performed, this is the primary evidence that a market has been constituted.* This statement is not tautological, but expresses the important claim that structural conditions alone do not make a market (yet); there has to be action in the form of actual exchanges with typical market characteristics. By implication, in this way we can also distinguish phases of market constitution: the *market generation phase*,

¹ To say that exchanges in markets are voluntary and peaceful does not belittle the imbalances in choice and power that exist among market actors, but serves to delineate markets, for example, from outright exploitation, robbery, and war (see also Aspers 2009: 6–7).

in which a market is not yet constituted but "in the making" as exchanges are envisaged but are not yet taking place; the *market continuation phase*, in which the performance of exchanges reproduces the market; and the *market termination phase*, when, for whatever reason, exchanges no longer take place and the market dissolves.² The market continuation phase can be subdivided further into young markets and mature markets, whereby exchanges in the latter take a much more routine form than in the former. Hence, in empirical research, one of the first questions to ask is whether exchanges are actually performed – in order to determine which phase of constitution the studied market is in.

Constitutive elements of markets

The next issue is what enables the performance of market exchanges. Market exchanges are possible when certain constitutive elements are in place (see Figure 2). *Products, exchanges, information, actors, networks, and institutions represent the main elements required to constitute a market.* None of these elements should be overlooked in market analysis, but the list is likely to become longer or more detailed when applied in empirical studies. For example, the category of *institution* captures the whole spectrum from formal to informal rules and from regulative to normative to cultural-cognitive aspects (see Scott 2008: 47ff.).

Any such categorization of the elements needed to constitute a market is bound to fulfill primarily heuristic and descriptive purposes, even when the categories are relatively well established in the theoretical discourses from which they are taken and to which they relate. Notwithstanding the focus on exchanges in the previous section, the six elements are at the same level. Other market theories tend to adopt a "markets as …" approach that identifies a conceptual core – e.g. networks, institutions, or products – to which other aspects of markets are subordinated. In contrast, the framework that I use here shows markets as an outcome of the interplay of a number of equally important constitutive elements. Note that the market actors in this framework can be not only individuals but also organizations, of course. Primary market actors are the buyers and sellers who are directly involved in market schanges, and who have duly received most of the attention in research on markets to date. Secondary market actors are intermediaries and regulators who do not perform market exchanges but influence what buyers and sellers do. These secondary market actors must be recognized, too, particularly the state as a regulator, which is not a detached entity, but a proper market actor.

² In a study on the development of technological paths, a similar distinction between generation, continuation, and termination phases is introduced by Sydow et al. (2007). This is a lifecycle model, assuming more or less gradual, non-deterministic transitions between phases. What I call the market generation phase is referred to by Fligstein (2001: 75) as market formation, comprising emergence, stability, and crisis, while Aspers (2009) conceptualizes a sequence of orientation, contraction, and cohesion.



Figure 2 Constitutive and interrelated elements of markets

If we analyze markets using only one of the categories, we overlook the fact that *the six constitutive elements of markets are interrelated and constitute the market as well as each other.* This means that in order to fully describe and understand any one of the constitutive elements of markets (and the market as such), we need to make references to the other elements. For example, institutions are not only supposed to enable or constrain market exchanges, but the exchanges also (re)produce institutions in return (e.g. Beckert 2009; Fourcade 2007). Hence, the interrelatedness of elements that I have in mind resembles the recursive logic that characterizes, for example, structuration theory (Giddens 1984). For instance, to say that market actors have to "avoid at least striking infringements of the rules of good faith and fair dealing" (Weber [1922]1978: 637) expresses both a restriction on actors and, on the other hand, their potential to maintain or destroy the market. This means, in particular, that market actors do not only influence the other constitutive elements but are also influenced by them in return. I will explore what this means empirically in due course.

Market constitution processes

Working backwards in the overall market constitution framework (see Figure 1 again), it is now time to ask where the six constitutive elements come from. That they constitute each other (see above) is only a partial answer to this question. More importantly, one specific market constitution process can be identified for each of the six constitutive elements (see Table 1, second column). The main idea is that the elements need to undergo a transformative process to acquire their market-constituting potential. Hence the analytical question that should be asked is how objects, exchanges, pieces of information, people, etc. become "marketized" and acquire market characteristics. *The constitutive elements of markets are shaped by distinct but interrelated transformative market constitution processes, labeled as innovating, commodifying, communicating, competing, associating, and institutionalizing.*

Ç
.9
F
÷
S
ō
ц.
ē
Ţ
Ĕ
÷
Ö
US
SD
.5
La
2
Ĕ
5
ĕ
a
S,
ō
.isi
ē
<u>ب</u>
S
SS
e
2
Q
t,
Ċ.
Ĕ
e
ш
~
Ð
đ
Ë

Constitutive elements	Market constitution	Constitutive tensions in reducing	_	Constitutive Mechanisms	
of markets	processes	and maintaining market uncertainty	Spontaneous emergence	Endogenous coordination	Exogenous regulation
Products	Innovating	Familiarity – Novelty	Discoveries and inventions	New product development	Precompetitive R&D funding
Exchanges	Commodifying	Standardization – Customization	Recurrent trade of a type of good	Quality management	Industry standards and requirements
Information	Communicating	Transparency – Asymmetry	Direct contact and negotiation	Marketing management	Provision of reports and infrastructure
Actors	Competing	Opportunity – Vulnerability	Entrepreneurial opportunism	Strategic management	Policies on antitrust and entrepreneurship
Networks	Associating	Flexibility – Loyalty	Recurrent interaction with known partners	Relationship management	Policies on cartels, consortia, associations
Institutions	Institutionalizing	Predictability – Applicability	Normalization, repetition, and objectivation	Contracting and institutional entrepreneurship	General legislation and cultural-political development
			Evolution	Management	Governance

Note: Cell content in columns four to six is illustrative, not exhaustive.

Specifically, innovating denotes the process that turns objects and inventions into new products (Callon/Muniesa 2005; Coriat/Weinstein 2005). Commodifying is the process that increases the similarity of exchanges, making them market exchanges, which is important because a market is constituted as a system of distinct but similar and related exchanges, facilitating the "calculativeness" emphasized by Callon (1998). Communicating, the third transformative constitution process in my framework, is transformative by making "facts" relevant and available to market actors, who then interpret and act on them (see also Akerlof 1970; Anand/Peterson 2000; Arrow 1974; MacKenzie 2006). Competing captures not only the structural condition of competition (i.e. multiple actors having a vying interest in making exchanges) but also the spirit in which market exchanges are initiated and performed; it is by competing that relevant actors turn into competitors and, thus, become market actors (see also Andersson/Aspenberg/Kjellberg 2008; Aspers 2005; Callon 1998; MacKenzie 2006; Weber [1922]1978). Associating is used here as a general term denoting the process of establishing relationships between actors that constitute networks, convey status, and work against the anonymity of markets (see also Aspers 2005; Podolny 1993; Rauch/Hamilton 2001; White 2002). Finally, institutionalizing means that certain rules of exchange and the sanctions attached to them are applied across many exchanges and become taken for granted (Berger/Luckmann 1966; Fligstein 2001; Scott 2008). Empirically, any one of the six transformative processes may be more or less advanced than the others at a particular point in time.

All the processes in my framework combine to capture what other accounts of market constitution refer to as the "value problem" (Beckert 2009: 253–257) and valuation, meaning the underlying processes of establishing the worth of an exchange. Valuation results from processes of innovating (when objects become products as actors recognize their value), commodifying (when the products become more comparable), communicating (when supply and demand are made transparent), competing (when actors become involved and priorities are assigned), associating (when a network of actors reproduces and protects a certain valuation), and institutionalizing (when the "marketability" of a product (Weber [1922]1978: 82) becomes taken for granted).

Moreover, market constitution processes are ongoing; the constitutive elements need to be reproduced, and their characteristics change over time. This means, first of all, that the simplified sequence shown in Figure 1 is repeated over and over again. The full framework captures a cycle and can be used to analyze new markets as well as mature or changing ones (Beckert 2008). It is a matter of degree whether a market is "young" or "mature," and a new market can grow from an established one if there is considerable change in its constitutive elements. Geroski (2003: 69) observes that "there is a rhythm of displacement in markets – that new markets grow from the ashes of old markets – meaning that the dynamics of the development of a new market are likely to be affected by the response of producers in the old market that it displaces." More generally, new markets may be very similar to older ones in that they borrow elements from related markets (Fligstein 2001: 78).

Note that "market constitution processes" are different from "market processes." The former refers to substantial transformations of market elements, such as the general valuation of a type of exchange object, whereas the latter refers to price negotiations and other activities leading up to a discrete exchange. Prices mark specific instances in the interplay of the constitutive elements when actual exchanges take place in a sufficiently established market.

Uncertainty and constitutive tensions in markets

So far, I have argued that there are distinct, ongoing transformative processes that generate the constitutive elements of markets. This does not yet capture the full complexity of what happens in these processes. The framework needs to take uncertainty into account. Beckert (1996, 2009) argues that economic sociology in general and sociological theories of markets in particular revolve around the problem of uncertainty (see also Podolny/Hsu 2003). In my framework, I see market constitution processes as mediated by the need to maintain a moderate level of uncertainty, which can be high or low, but not extreme. *Market constitution requires that the uncertainty resulting from typical tensions in markets is reduced, but not eliminated, by applying and reconciling opposing forces.*

This idea cannot be fully explored in this paper, but a brief description of the basic tensions associated with each of the six constitutive elements and their processes will convey the general idea (Table 1, third column).³ First, the products that markets require are generated by innovating, but in the social process of constructing the value of a new product, a balance between familiarity and novelty needs to be struck (see Geroski 2003: 180–82). Second, while commodifying enables similarity between exchanges and is enhanced by standards, some customization is required that reflects the unique capabilities of the seller or the special needs of the buyer. Otherwise, offers will be indistinguishable, competition will be stifled, and the choice of exchange partners will be random. Third, while communicating promotes the transparency of information needed in a market in order for exchange partners to find each other and evaluate each other's offers, it is also functional for market actors and the market as a whole to retain some information asymmetry because not everything is always relevant and many deals are only possible because different things are relevant (and valuable) to different actors (Akerlof 1970; Knight [1921]1971).

Fourth, actors become market participants by competing, but they are torn between the resultant opportunities and the vulnerability that the "market struggle" means for them

³ While I speak of constitutive tensions, Beckert (2009) identifies three inevitable coordination problems (valuation, competition, cooperation), and Aspers (2009) formulates three basic questions: what the market is about; how things are done; and what the value of an offer is.

when they initiate exchanges (Weber [1922]1978: 72; see also Adler/Adler 1984). Aspers (2009: 15–16) calls this the "orientation" phase, when market actors' identities and interests are formed and they learn to play their roles as competitors looking for a good deal. Callon (1998: 17) speaks of the "framing of actors and their relations" in markets. Fifth, by associating, market actors maintain trusted network relationships based on loyalty, but also gain access to alternative partners. The importance of the flexibility provided by this opportunity to switch exchange partners should not be underestimated (Abola-fia 1984; Granovetter 1985; Rauch/Hamilton 2001; Uzzi 1997). Finally, institutions are torn between predictability and applicability, because highly specific rules increase the former but reduce the latter, and very generic rules, in return, may be widely applicable but interpreted and implemented in unpredictable ways (Abolafia 1996).

A detailed examination of these constitutive tensions will be instructive for explaining variance across markets, because each empirical market will reconcile the tensions in idiosyncratic ways, depending on the nature of its constitutive elements as well as the phase and history of its constitution overall. The particular balances in a market at any given point in time are not simply a matter of economic equilibrium and efficiency. They reflect earlier and ongoing cultural and political influences on the market, path dependencies, and the intensity of business cycles and fashions (Fligstein 2001; Greif 2006). Analytically, the tensions serve to mediate market constitution processes and explain why "pure markets" are never realized and why every market is a special case.

Constitutive mechanisms

The framework for analyzing market constitution, in the narrower sense, is made complete by the mechanisms that trigger and drive market constitution processes (see Figure 1 and Table 1, fourth to sixth columns). Extending Hayek's (1973: 35ff.) distinction between *cosmos* and *taxis*, as well as common notions of evolution versus governance,⁴ I propose a simple heuristic distinction between *three* constitutive mechanisms which capture and integrate three very broad theoretical traditions in explaining the occurrence and development of markets: *Market constitution processes are triggered and driven by the constitutive mechanisms of spontaneous emergence, exogenous regulation, and endogenous coordination*.

First, in this conceptualization, the mechanism of spontaneous emergence is based on the desire to make exchanges without the vision of establishing a full "market" for one-

⁴ Broadly in line with Hayek's concepts, Aspers (2009) conceptualizes "spontaneous coordination" and "organized coordination." I think it is important to distinguish not only between unintended and intended coordination efforts, but also to capture whether intended coordination originates endogenously or exogenously (see also Aspers's distinction between "state-governed" and "self-governed" market making).

self and others. Second, exogenous regulation is undertaken to create a market, i.e. to stimulate and regulate market exchanges from the outside without any intention of participating directly in the market. Third, I add the mechanism of endogenous coordination in markets which presumes that the actors within the market look beyond individual exchanges and have an interest in the existence of particular markets as larger exchange systems in which they will be directly involved (see also Aspers 2009; Greif 2006). This comes close to Chandler's (1977) idea of the "visible hand" of management and its influence on markets. Spontaneous emergence is an unintentional mechanism, while the other two are intentional with a view to market constitution. In another dimension, the distinction is based on whether the mechanism originates inside or outside the market as an exchange system, hence endogenous coordination versus exogenous regulation. Spontaneous emergence is a mechanism that works prior to the point at which the market is established (in the sense of exchanges taking place regularly), and it is neither inside nor outside the market. If its effect continues, its source can be located inside or outside later on.

My colleague Patrik Aspers (2009) has sketched a typology of market-making processes, distinguishing between spontaneous, self-governed, and state-governed market making, which is roughly analogous to the three mechanisms I propose here. While our conceptualizations go together well, I do not limit the external regulation of markets to the state, I put more emphasis on questions of intentionality and insider/outsider status, and I place the mechanisms in a larger framework of market constitution.⁵

It is important to note that the three types of mechanisms all have an effect on market constitution and are related to each other in the sense that one may prompt the other. While each of the three constitutive mechanisms outlined here warrants a much more detailed analysis, their interplay is probably the most interesting issue to be studied further, especially if we presume that none of the mechanisms is principally superior to the others, nor that one mechanism alone will be sufficient to explain the constitution of a specific, empirical market. The contribution this framework makes, even in this rough outline, is to give equal space to evolution, management, and governance (see Table 1, bottom row). The constitutive mechanisms described here already anticipate the tensions that are typical of market constitution processes as referred to above, for example the tension between familiarity and novelty in new product development.

Framework boundaries, inputs, and outputs

The preliminary boundaries of the framework are also given in Figure 1. Specifically, market constitution in the narrower sense begins with the constitutive mechanisms

⁵ Aspers (2009: 25–28) includes hypotheses on which market-making type is likely under which conditions.

and ends with the creation and maintenance of a system of discrete, self-interested, and competitive economic exchanges. Beyond the boundaries of the model lie, on the input side, the resources and interests that enable the constitutive mechanisms to operate and, on the output side, the individual and collective outcomes of markets (Swedberg 2003). When inputs and outputs are connected, the analytical framework forms a loop which matches the idea that market constitution is dynamic.

Taken together, interests and resources represent the power that goes into the market constitution mechanisms described. Fligstein (2001) points to the political-cultural dimensions of market constitution and stresses that "[r]ules are not created innocently or without taking into account 'interests'" (p. 28). Different power distributions may explain, for example, why some markets are driven more by exogenous regulation or endogenous coordination than others. Resources, both material and immaterial, are not simply the means to realize interests but, rather, they often embody ideas and values that shape interests in the first place (Callon 1998). And the interests that motivate participation in markets as a seller or buyer go beyond the display of competitive selfinterest expected within the market. The constitutive mechanisms draw on social, cultural, and political contexts outside of the market (Beckert 2009; Fligstein 2001). This also applies to the individual and collective outcomes of market exchanges that market actors and society at large will analyze in order to determine whether a continuation of market exchange is desirable. As outcomes shape the resources and interests for the next sequence of market constitution, inequalities in terms of power and welfare outside of the market are carried over into the subsequent market development and the strategic actions of market actors. The inherently political nature of market constitution must not be overlooked

Implications of the framework for empirical studies of markets

All the points raised above imply a comprehensive set of questions to be asked and answered by empirical research into specific exchange systems. Do they have the typical characteristics of markets? Are exchanges taking place, or is the market in an earlier or later phase of its constitution? Can we identify products, exchanges, information flows, actors, networks, and institutions? What makes them relevant and what makes them special, compared to other markets? How are the typical tensions dealt with, which market constitution processes are critical, and do we find manifestations of the three constitutive mechanisms?

The framework proposed here is intended as a heuristic model for the systematic description and comparison of all sorts of markets that will reveal common patterns of market constitution as well as the unique features of particular markets resulting from their history and stage of development. Once patterns emerge across a larger number of different markets, it is also possible to construct new typologies of markets, building for example on differences in the six constitutive elements. Hence much further work is required as the framework is applied to reinterpret prior research and to conduct new studies of markets. In the remainder of this paper, I will illustrate the potential of the framework by applying it to the case of solar power technology markets in Germany.

3 Examples from solar power technology markets: Green inventors, diversifying giants, and political entrepreneurs

In this part of the paper, I will give three tentative accounts of market constitution processes in solar power technology markets, based on the framework outlined above (see Figure 1 for reference when reading the following sections). The three examples are chosen to represent market constitution processes triggered by spontaneous emergence, endogenous coordination, and exogenous regulation respectively, but it will also become rapidly clear how strongly these mechanisms are related to each other.⁶

Figure 3 documents the growth of solar power technology markets in Germany in terms of the installed capacity of photovoltaic power in megawatt peak (MWp) since 1990.⁷ Not only was total capacity built up around the country over the years, the annual growth in capacity of new installations increased almost every year as well, indicating a very significant and presumably attractive market growth (BMU 2008). This is confirmed by figures from the Bundesverband Solarwirtschaft, a trade association, which shows the total annual turnover in the photovoltaics sector to have grown from around €201 million in 2000 to around €7,000 million in 2008 (BSW 2009). Given that crucial supportive legislation was implemented in Germany in 1991, it is interesting to see that the market still took some time to take off (see also Jacobsson/Sandén/Bångens 2004). The transformative processes outlined above were just getting started. Hence, in the mid-1990s, key companies had to be founded. They had to be in place with their products and networks to make the boom from 1999 onwards possible when further legislation and funding programs were implemented to help this market grow. By 2008 about 130 firms were producing solar power cells, modules, and installations in Germany (BSW 2009). On the demand side, considering the future provision of energy, solar power has been "the most attractive energy source in public opinion" (Wüstenhagen/

⁶ The developments described in this section are based on secondary sources, especially newspapers and online media, as well as personal recollections of the Solon case. Note that the account is mainly illustrative at this stage and for this paper. The project this section is based on is still ongoing.

⁷ My analysis starts in 1990 in line with Jacobsson/Sandén/Bångens (2004: 12), who distinguish between a preparatory phase up to 1989, which included public discussions on the oil crises concerning shifts to non-fossil energy sources as well as important technological developments in this direction, and a market-building phase after 1990 (see also Wüstenhagen/Bilharz 2006).

Bilharz 2006: 1682) since the early 1990s. Public opinion was favorable, but the market for the technologies required still had to be constituted.

Below, I apply the framework for market constitution analysis (Figure 1) to the case of solar power technology markets in Germany to show how it helps to identify the processes behind a market development such as the one illustrated numerically in Figure 3. The case of solar power in Germany can only be fully understood if it is also seen in a transnational context; however, for presentational reasons, the account here is limited to Germany, while the international reach of activities by the actors studied is fully recognized. Moreover, the development of solar power technology markets in Germany has to be understood in the broader context of renewable energy markets there (e.g. Jacobsson/Sandén/Bångens 2004; Wüstenhagen/Bilharz 2006). Solar power still plays a small role in the total energy generation in Germany, even though its own growth rates are impressive, accounting for 3.5% of power production and less than 1% of consumption in 2007 (BMU 2008).



Figure 3 Total and newly installed photovoltaic capacity in Germany

Source: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety, Germany (BMU 2008).

Spontaneous emergence: Green inventors turned global business players

As part of the revival of solar power cell manufacturing in Germany in the mid-1990s, companies such as Solon SE (formerly Solon AG) and SolarWorld AG, which would soon become major players, started out as fairly small enterprises in the solar power sector. From the point of view of market constitution, Solon and SolarWorld emerged rather spontaneously and have evolved with the market. To be sure, their founders were looking for economic opportunities for themselves, but they did not set out to create a market for solar power technologies for everyone.

In the case of Solon, founded in 1996, the initial venture brought together a set of highly idealistic people in Berlin who believed in renewable energy sources and were interested in inventing technological solutions. Wuseltronik, the key precursor to Solon, saw itself as a socialist engineering collective – as opposed to capitalist market makers. In the case of SolarWorld, established in 1998, a small firm offering diverse engineering services related to renewable energy sources since 1988 managed to secure a major public contract for installing solar power generators on a public building in Bonn. Hence, SolarWorld reacted to a demand-side market impetus. The company's founder, Frank Asbeck, was a politically active environmentalist, but it was this contract, actually the biggest photovoltaic installation in the world at the time, that somewhat coincidentally led his small firm to grow specifically in the solar power sector. Both Solon and SolarWorld are cases of small, green, inventive engineering companies that became major global players in solar power technology markets. They also have in common the fact that they went from buying solar cells for the devices they made to manufacturing solar cells themselves. They went public quite quickly and were listed on the stock market in 1998 and 1999 respectively, which was generally seen as an indication of the feasibility of solar power technology markets.

For market constitution analysis, the first few years of these companies' existence are particularly interesting. The steep learning curves and the transformations that they had to undergo are quite remarkable. They had to turn from idealistic engineers into actors in a new market. While they were being "marketized," they were also driving the development of solar power technology markets in Germany and beyond. The analytical question is: What enabled Solon and SolarWorld to participate in the market and, thereby, to contribute to its creation? Specifically, how did they affect the constitutive processes and elements of the market? The following account is structured using the categories of the analytical framework shown in Figure 1 and Table 1.

Innovating products

First, regarding products, I already mentioned that the two companies started off buying solar power cells made by others (e.g. SolarWorld imported BP Solar's technology) to build them into more complex modules and installations. Hence, a major transformation they underwent was to develop their own products (solar power cells). Solon set up its own plant in Berlin-Kreuzberg, while SolarWorld initially went the way of acquiring other manufacturers before establishing its own factories later on. They both invested many resources in product innovation, building on their prior knowledge as buyers as well as developing and acquiring new patents. Interestingly, in terms of the constitutive tensions of markets, both companies focused initially on the photovoltaic technologies most common and familiar in Germany and not the more novel thermal technologies. Solon and SolarWorld did not invent a completely new product category, but they contributed to market constitution by extending the range of products and the capacity of production available in a growing market.

Commodifying exchanges

Regarding the commodification of products so that comparable exchanges can take place in a market, it is interesting to note with respect to the tension between standardization and customization that Solon and SolarWorld retained a relatively high level of customization by integrating the production of relatively standardized solar power cells with the design of devices and installations that could be tailored to specific needs. In this way, the companies contributed to market constitution by offering exchanges with an added value beyond the solar technology as such, i.e. they were selling expertise as well as hardware. As new players in the emerging market, their main concern was also to engage in enough exchanges in the first place in order to be able to grow beyond their prior business and achieve returns on their new investments.

Communicating information

As far as market information and communication flows are concerned, both Solon and SolarWorld, starting out as small enterprises, had to learn as they grew to serve not only a small number of customers directly known to them but also a larger mass market, taking advantage for example of the 100,000 Rooftops Solar Electricity Program of the German Federal Government (administered by KfW bank). The companies also had to get used to greater transparency requirements of their investors, who wanted to see their market data and projections. Solon, in particular, ran into serious difficulties in this regard in 2001.

Competing actors

Probably the biggest transformation that both companies underwent was to actually become *market* actors, i.e. to see themselves as not only (or even primarily) inventors of promising green technologies but as global business players in a still nascent but already highly competitive market (Lorenz/Pinner/Seitz 2008). This is, in other words,

the "marketization" of these actors as they adopt market logic. In the case of Solar-World, its original founder, Frank Asbeck, has managed to evolve in his own role with the company, and he is still heading the firm successfully. In the case of Solon, however, the initial "gang" of idealistic entrepreneurs ran into trouble and was soon replaced by financial directors and other professionals who had no experience or commitment in the solar sector but who knew how to manage a company in a complex and difficult market environment by focusing, for example, on the core profitable business areas. Solon and SolarWorld had to learn to compete and be competitive as is expected of market actors, especially the big players. At Solon, some did miss the cozy Kreuzberg days.

Associating networks

The Solon and SolarWorld cases are also interesting in how they built networks within the solar power technology markets. Being small firms with ambitious projects to start with, they had to convince their own investors and customers that they could actually deliver. An important part of SolarWorld's strategy was to not only cooperate but actually acquire important suppliers. Solon attempted more of an organic growth strategy in the beginning, but when the company had to announce huge losses in 2000, it started looking for strategic partners and announced cooperative agreements, which did not fully convince its investors at the time, however. In terms of market constitution and the role of networks, SolarWorld went for less flexibility and more integration, while Solon was looking for trusted partners and less integration. It is also clear that the solar power technology market was not constituted merely by arm's-length exchanges but, more importantly, by building durable relationships between buyers and sellers, i.e. supplier networks (see for example Baker/Faulkner/Fisher 1998).

Institutionalizing market institutions

Companies like Solon and SolarWorld played a key role in the institutionalization of solar power technology markets in Germany. It is important to note that virtually no solar power cells were manufactured in Germany anymore by the 1990s (Jacobsson/Sandén/ Bångens 2004: 16) and that the new companies were thus important examples of what could be accomplished. Because they not only survived but were also actually successful in the stock market, it became "normal" after a few years for solar power cells to be made and sold in Germany. It is well known that government initiatives and regulations also played a big role in making the market possible (as will be discussed below), but market constitution nevertheless required companies like Solon and SolarWorld that would seize the opportunities, become market actors, and perform market exchanges regularly and "normally."

Endogenous coordination: Diversifying giants looking for dominance

We can contrast the start-up scenarios of Solon and SolarWorld with BP Solar, a full subsidiary of BP (the outcome of the merger between British Petroleum and Amoco). BP Solar has a distribution center in Germany but manufacturing facilities only in the United States, Spain, India, Australia, and China. If we look at the 1990s again, the time when Solon and SolarWorld were founded, BP Solar plays a very different role in the constitution of solar power technology markets. First of all, BP Solar as part of a gigantic corporate group brings immense resources to the solar power markets and could afford, for example, to remain unprofitable until 2004. However, BP Solar also has to compete for investments with other business units in BP, not only with the oil division but with units engaged in other alternative energy sources from biofuels to wind power. Secondly, BP started diversifying its business a long time ago and has been active in the solar power sector for more than 30 years, producing both solar power cells and full installations. In the 1990s, the company already had several solar power cell manufacturing facilities around the world and one of their customers was SolarWorld, set to become a competitor later. Even though solar power technology markets were still emerging 15 years ago - and probably they still are today - we can state for analytical purposes that BP Solar was already a market actor at that time and that its activities contributed to the endogenous coordination of market constitution (according to Figure 1 and Table 1).

Innovating, commodifying, communicating

Even in its role as an incumbent, though, BP Solar had to invest heavily in innovation and new product development, generating new products for the emerging and growing solar power technology markets. A key problem in this market was that the efficiency of the products needed to be vastly enhanced in order to be able, one day, to compete with other sources of energy without requiring public subsidies (Jacobsson/Sandén/ Bångens 2004; Lorenz/Pinner/Seitz 2008). The new products needed to be commodified as alternatives to gas and oil, for example, apart from the competition with other renewables. The advantage of BP Solar was that it could fund its R&D from within the BP corporate group, meaning that they viewed government funding of new firms (but not so much the subsidies to customers) with some suspicion, because the new entrants such as SolarWorld would increase competition in the market (if one did a competitive analysis based on Porter 1980). When it came to the actual exchanges and information flows required for market constitution, BP Solar had the advantage of drawing on BP's corporate experience in quality management and marketing – but also the legacy of being seen as an oil company with less credibility "beyond petroleum."

The demand for new products from solar power technology manufacturers such as BP Solar, or firms like Solon and SolarWorld, is affected by changes in valuation on the part of energy consumers and the introduction of "green power" products by energy marketers (see Wüstenhagen/Bilharz 2006: 1689–1691). While solar power may still be

a niche market, private households can pull the market from the demand side. When they buy a green electricity mix, they legitimize and necessitate the installation of new capacity, especially for the very popular but expensive solar power.

Competing, associating, institutionalizing

BP Solar did not have to transform itself into a market actor but was "marketized" from the start and strategically designed to create and exploit profitable business for BP. Regarding the extent to which BP Solar's relationship management influences the network structures in the solar power technology markets, it is hardly surprising that the company cooperates regularly with R&D institutions and manages sophisticated supply and distribution networks. Their products go to households or businesses as end customers, but BP Solar (like its competitors) tends not to sell directly to them but to certified wholesalers and smaller engineering companies specializing in solar module installation (such as SolarWorld initially). When it comes to influencing the institutionalization of solar power markets, BP Solar draws on BP's huge public relations machinery and keeps sending the message that it is only a matter of time and persistent product development before the markets are viable. It can be noted that the endogenous coordination performed by BP Solar is designed to maintain a strong position and even to gain dominance in the market, with much less interest shown in opening the market up, much less reliance on external subsidies, and much more belief in the continued dynamic of a fast-growing market with much future potential. BP Solar clearly helps to constitute the market but, unsurprisingly, seeks to shape it in its own business interest. The company also labels solar power a "profitable investment" instead of, for example, pointing to the hazards of climate change. This is very different from the early days of Solon and Solar-World, whose founders wanted to make money but also saw their market participation in much more idealistic and publicly spirited terms. Solon's company logo, for example, features the slogan "Don't leave the planet to the stupid" (www.solon.com).

Exogenous regulation: A political entrepreneur generating momentum

To understand the influence of external regulation on solar power technology markets, especially in the German context, one should consider legislation such as the Electricity Feed-in Law of 1991, replaced in April 2000 with the national Renewable Energy Sources Act *(Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz)*, as an outstanding motor of market constitution. The core mechanism of this legislation is a purchase obligation for the public grid operator plus a price guarantee above market prices granted to investors who install new solar power generators and provide energy to the public grid (see Wüstenhagen/Bilharz 2006: 1685; a further important element is a nationwide settlement system to balance out regional disparities). This has made solar power technology much more attractive for customers and has meant business opportunities for suppliers like BP Solar, Solon,

and SolarWorld. 157,000 jobs related to renewable energies were created by 2004 in Germany alone (BMU 2006: 6). The trade association BSW reports around 48,000 jobs in the photovoltaics sector in 2008, up from about 1,500 in 1998 (BSW 2009).

In this short illustration, I cannot analyze the whole political process and the debate on renewable energy sources in Germany, but I can illustrate the role of exogenous regulation for market constitution by reference to the most prominent political entrepreneur to play a pivotal role in generating momentum for solar power in Germany and beyond: Hermann Scheer. I am certainly aware that we need to be careful and avoid attributing too much agency to individuals like Scheer, whose influence is obviously dependent on certain societal conditions and resources that work for him, against him, and with him (Lawrence/Suddaby 2006). Nevertheless, he is an outstanding figure who possesses "projective agency" (Emirbayer/Mische 1998) and has been involved in organizing core initiatives that have shaped solar power technology markets by external regulation.

Scheer himself is outside of the markets in the narrower sense because he does not engage in market exchanges, i.e. he does not appear as a buyer or seller of solar power equipment. He is still a relevant market actor, though, because it is his mission to promote solar power broadly and to do so effectively by advocating a regulated market economy relying on private investments and market exchange, aided by public subsidies until the market is self-sufficient. Scheer is a political scientist by education and a political activist by calling. Since 1980, he has been a Member of Parliament in Germany (Social Democrats) and has used this position to introduce environmental legislation such as the 100,000 Rooftops Solar Electricity Program in 1999 and the Renewable Energy Sources Act in 2000. Wüstenhagen and Bilharz (2006: 1687-1688) point out that it was parliamentarians like Scheer - rather than government ministers, industry leaders, or public opinion - that drove the legislative initiatives. Scheer is also the founder and president of EUROSOLAR, the European Association for Renewable Energies set up in 1988, which initiated the World Council for Renewable Energy, of which Scheer is also General Chairman (see also Jacobsson/Sandén/Bångens 2004). Moreover, he is a prolific author and speaker, publicizing his vision of solar power and renewable energy at every opportunity. His initiatives and ideas have been recognized by numerous awards including the Right Livelihood Award ("Alternative Nobel Prize") in 1999.

How can we interpret his impressive vita in the light of the constitution of markets for solar power technology (see Table 1)? First of all, the scenarios of energy provision in the future, which Scheer has sketched in his books, articles, and speeches, have given legitimacy and motivation to actors interested in developing products for solar power markets, such as the founders of Solon. Second, his legislative initiatives have produced economic incentives for private suppliers and buyers of solar power technology to engage in market exchanges. Through EUROSOLAR, founded in 1988, Scheer has given the solar power industry and all other stakeholders in renewable energy a platform for exchanging information on alternative energy markets, enabling the key players to interact and to publicize their successes and concerns. By joining this association, market actors get organized, gain recognition, and become involved in long-term market development and political discourses. The activities of EUROSOLAR work against a short-term investment orientation and thus stabilize the solar power markets, which might otherwise collapse in times of low profitability. It is certainly also the aim of Scheer personally and EUROSOLAR as an association to influence the cultural and political climate around the world and to build a global social movement in support of solar power (Jacobsson/Sandén/Bångens 2004). Although he clearly has not done so single-handedly, Scheer has shaped significantly the current governance of solar power markets in Germany and beyond.

4 Summary, discussion, and conclusion

The previous section provides a preliminary but clear analysis of how spontaneous emergence, endogenous coordination, and exogenous regulation have triggered and driven constitutive market processes and contributed to producing the constitutive elements of solar power markets in Germany. In future studies, it will be particularly interesting to analyze in more detail how the mechanisms are interrelated. For example, political agitation and legislation outside of the market paved the way for endogenous initiatives such as BP's investments in solar power as well as the emergence of Solon and SolarWorld. BP's position is intriguing because BP Solar has helped indirectly to build its own competition, i.e. SolarWorld, but the new entrants do not only challenge BP, they also help to grow and stabilize the solar power markets, which is desirable form BP's long-term point of view, too. It is noteworthy that solar power markets in Germany are now already institutionalized in the sense that it is taken for granted that the provision of solar power technology will take place through private markets (Jacobsson/Sandén/Bångens 2004) - even if they are heavily subsidized - and not mainly through public infrastructure projects (e.g. solar power plants built, owned, and run by the state). This is most evident in the move towards establishing solar power companies as publicly listed firms that have to perform in the stock markets, which means that they are not only assessed in their capability to provide green technologies per se, but also in their growth, efficiency, and profitability as market actors.

In summary, the relevant market actors including buyers, sellers, intermediaries, and regulators have built solar power technology markets purposefully and signaled that the solar future has to be situated within a market. This means that technologies initially had to become marketable products; exchanges had to become standardized and comparable; not only technical features needed to be specified, but also prices and delivery times; the providers and users had to start competing and be sellers and buyers; associations had to be created in anticipation of future trade in the market; and, last but not least, the institutional framework needed to be developed to legitimate profit motives in an environmentalist, even anti-capitalist domain. At the same time, the market has been

kept permeable in order to be able to draw on the resources of social movements that have a non-market or even anti-market orientation. The market philosophy of solar power is also fairly loose, given the realization that the intended markets have not been feasible so far without exogenous protection and promotion by governments.

The details of the analytical framework I have outlined and applied in this paper are a subject for future research and refinement. The framework captures the fact that markets differ in the way they are constituted, especially because of the inherent tensions that mediate market constitution processes. The framework provides categories that enable us to make comparisons between markets and trace changes in markets over time. For example, the analysis of the German solar power technology markets sketched out in this paper could be extended to further countries, more forms of energy generation, other technological innovations, or pre-1990 developments. Propositions can be derived from this framework once it is applied to a larger number of different markets so that typical patterns of market constitution become apparent. Key theoretical questions that remain to be answered are the relative importance of the constitutive mechanisms, the balance in the constitutive tensions, and the degree to which the six constitutive elements need to be fully constituted for systematic exchanges to take place.

Future research, my own ongoing empirical work included, will bring out the practical and theoretical value of the framework for the analysis of market constitution outlined in this paper. I argue that we will understand markets better when we examine the three constitutive mechanisms, the six constitutive processes with their typical tensions, and the six constitutive elements of markets as special systems of economic exchange in the context of the resources and interests that they draw on and the individual and collective outcomes they produce.

References

- Abolafia, Mitchel Y., 1984: Structured Anarchy: Formal Organization in the Commodities Futures Market. In: Patricia A. Adler/Peter Adler (eds.), *The Social Dynamics of Financial Markets*. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press, 129–150.
- —, 1996: Making Markets: Opportunism and Restraint on Wall Street. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Adler, Patricia A./Peter Adler, 1984: Toward a Sociology of Financial Markets. In: Patricia A. Adler/Peter Adler (eds.), *The Social Dynamics of Financial Markets*. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press, 195–201.
- Akerlof, George A., 1970: The Market for 'Lemons': Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism. In: *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 84, 488–500.

- Anand, N./Richard A. Peterson, 2000: When Market Information Constitutes Fields: Sensemaking of Markets in the Commercial Music Industry. In: *Organization Science* 11, 270–284.
- Anderson, Erin/Hubert Gatignon, 2005: Firms and the Creation of New Markets. In: Claude Menard/Mary M. Shirley (eds.), *Handbook of New Institutional Economics*. Dordrecht: Springer, 401–431.
- Andersson, Per/Katarina Aspenberg/Hans Kjellberg, 2008: The Configuration of Actors in Market Practice. In: *Marketing Theory* 8, 67–90.
- Arrow, Kenneth J., 1974: The Limits of Organization. New York: Norton.
- Aspers, Patrik, 2005: Status Markets and Standard Markets in the Global Garment Industry. MPIfG Discussion Paper 05/10. Cologne: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies.
- Aspers, Patrik, 2006: Sociology of Markets. In: Jens Beckert/Milan Zafirovski (eds.), International Encyclopedia of Economic Sociology. London: Routledge, 427–432.
 - —, 2009: How Are Markets Made? MPIfG Working Paper 09/2. Cologne: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies.
- Baker, Wayne E./Robert R. Faulkner/Gene A. Fisher, 1998: Hazards of the Market: The Continuity and Dissolution of Interorganizational Market Relationships. In: *American Sociological Review* 63, 147–177.
- Beckert, Jens, 1996: What Is Sociological about Economic Sociology? Uncertainty and the Embeddedness of Economic Action. In: *Theory and Society* 25, 803–840.
- —, 2008: How Do Markets Change? On the Interrelations of Institutions, Networks and Cognition in the Evolution of Markets. Conference paper. MPIfG Conference on "Theoretical Approaches to Economic Sociology," Berlin, February 18–19, 2008.
- , 2009: The Social Order of Markets. In: *Theory and Society* 38, 245–269.
- Berger, Peter L./Thomas Luckmann, 1966: *The Social Construction of Reality*. Garden City: Doubleday.
- Biggart, Nicole W./Rick Delbridge, 2004: Systems of Exchange. In: *Academy of Management Review* 29, 28–49.
- BMU (Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit), 2006: *Erneuerbare Energien: Arbeitsplatzeffekte*. Website of the BMU. <www.bmu.de/files/pdfs/allgemein/applica-tion/pdf/arbeitsmarkt_ee_lang.pdf> (accessed July 21, 2009)
- —, 2008: Entwicklung der erneuerbaren Energien in Deutschland im Jahr 2007. Website of the Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit.
 - <www.erneuerbare-energien.de/inhalt/39830/20010/> (accessed June 17, 2009)
- BSW, 2009: *Statistische Zahlen der deutschen Solarstrombranche (Photovoltaik)*. Website of the Bundesverband Solarwirtschaft.

<www.solarwirtschaft.de/fileadmin/content_files/Faktenblatt_PV_Mai09.pdf> (accessed June 11, 2009)

- Callon, Michel, 1998: Introduction: The Embeddedness of Economic Markets in Economics. In: Michel Callon (ed.), *The Laws of the Markets*. Oxford: Blackwell, 1–68.
- Callon, Michel/Fabian Muniesa, 2005: Economic Markets as Calculative Collective Devices. In: Organization Studies 26, 1229–1250.
- Chandler, Alfred DuPont, Jr., 1977: The Visible Hand: The Managerial Revolution in American Business. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.
- Coriat, Benjamin/Oliver Weinstein, 2005: The Social Construction of Markets. In: *Issues in Regulation Theory* 53, 1–4.
- Emirbayer, Mustafa/Ann Mische, 1998: What Is Agency? In: American Journal of Sociology 103, 962–1023.
- Ensminger, Jean, 1992: Making a Market: The Institutional Transformation of an African Society. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fligstein, Neil, 2001: The Architecture of Markets. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Fligstein, Neil/Luke Dauter, 2007: The Sociology of Markets. In: *Annual Review of Sociology 33*, 105–128.

- Fourcade, Marion, 2007: Theories of Markets and Theories of Society. In: American Behavioral Scientist 50, 1015–1034.
- Fourcade, Marion/Kieran Healy, 2007: Moral Views of Market Society. In: *Annual Review of Sociology* 33, 285–311.
- Geroski, Paul A., 2003: The Evolution of New Markets. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Giddens, Anthony, 1984: The Constitution of Society. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Granovetter, Mark, 1985: Economic Action and Social Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness. In: *American Journal of Sociology* 91, 481–510.
- Greif, Avner, 2006: *Institutions and the Path to the Modern Economy: Lessons from Medieval Trade.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hayek, Friedrich A., 1973: Law, Legislation and Liberty: A New Statement of the Liberal Principles of Justice and Political Economy, Vol. 1: Rules and Order. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Jacobsson, Steffan/Björn A. Sandén/Lennart Bångens, 2004: Transforming the Energy System: The Evolution of the German Technological System for Solar Cells. In: *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 16, 3–30.
- Knight, Frank H., [1921]1971: *Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press, Phoenix Books.
- Lawrence, Thomas B./Roy Suddaby, 2006: Institutions and Institutional Work. In: Stewart R. Clegg/ Cynthia Hardy /Walter R. Nord/Thomas B. Lawrence (eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Organization Studies*. London: Sage, 215–254.
- Lie, John, 1997: Sociology of Markets. In: Annual Review of Sociology 23, 341-360.
- Lorenz, Peter/Dickon Pinner/Thomas Seitz, 2008: The Economics of Solar Power. In: McKinsey Quarterly, June 2008, 66–78.
- MacKenzie, Donald A., 2006: An Engine, Not a Camera: How Financial Models Shape Markets. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- North, Douglass C., 1990: Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Podolny, Joel M., 1993: A Status-based Model of Market Competition. In: *American Journal of Sociology* 98, 829–872.
- Podolny, Joel M./Greta Hsu, 2003: Quality, Exchange, and Knightian Uncertainty. In: *Research in the Sociology of Organizations* 20, 77–103.
- Porter, Michael E., 1980: *Competitive Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors.* New York: Free Press.
- Rauch, James E./Gary G. Hamilton, 2001: Networks and Markets: Concepts for Bridging Disciplines. In: James E. Rauch/Alessandra Casella (eds.), *Networks and Markets*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1–29.
- Scott, W. Richard, 2008: Institutions and Organizations. Third edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Smith, Adam, [1776]1976: The Wealth of Nations. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Swedberg, Richard, 2003: Principles of Economic Sociology. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Sydow, Jörg/Arnold Windeler/Cornelius Schubert/Guido Möllering, 2007: Organizing Networks for Path Creation and Extension in Semiconductor Manufacturing Technologies. Conference paper. Academy of Management Meeting, Philadelphia, August 6–8, 2007.
- Uzzi, Brian, 1997: Social Structure and Competition in Interfirm Networks: The Paradox of Embeddedness. In: Administrative Science Quarterly 42, 35–67.
- Weber, Max, [1922]1978: Economy and Society. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- White, Harrison C., 1981: Where Do Markets Come From? In: American Journal of Sociology 87, 517–547.
- —, 2002: Markets from Networks: Socioeconomic Models of Production. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Williamson, Oliver E., 1975: Markets and Hierarchies. New York: Free Press.

Wüstenhagen, Rolf/Michael Bilharz, 2006: Green Energy Market Development in Germany: Effective Public Policy and Emerging Customer Demand. In: *Energy Policy* 34, 1681–1696.

Recent Titles in the Publication Series of the MPIfG

MPIfG Discussion Papers

DP 09/6 B. Harrington Trust and Estate Planning: The Emergence of a Profession and Its Contribution to Socio-Economic Inequality

DP 09/5 J. S. Ahlquist, C. Breunig Country Clustering in Comparative Political Economy

DP 09/4 H. Callaghan Constrain-Thy-Neighbor Effects as a Determinant of Transnational Interest Group Cohesion

DP 09/3 D. Stark, B. Vedres **Opening Closure:** Intercohesion and Entrepreneurial Dynamics in Business Groups

DP 09/2 J. Beckert Koordination und Verteilung: Zwei Ansätze der Wirtschaftssoziologie

DP 09/1 J. Beckert, N. Besedovsky Die Wirtschaft als Thema der Soziologie: Zur Entwicklung wirtschaftssoziologischer Forschung in Deutschland und den USA

MPIfG Working Papers

WP 09/6 M. Höpner Parteigänger und Landschaftspfleger: Eine Analyse der Parteispenden großer deutscher Unternehmen, 1984–2005

WP 09/5 C. Deutschmann Soziologie kapitalistischer Dynamik

WP 09/4 J. Beckert Pragmatismus und wirtschaftliches Handeln

WP 09/3 T. Fetzer Beyond Convergence Versus Path Dependence: The Internationalization of Industrial Relations at Ford Germany and Britain (1967–1985)

WP 09/2 P. Aspers How Are Markets Made?

WP 09/1 F. W. Scharpf Legitimacy in the Multilevel European Polity

WP 08/7 W. Streeck Von der gesteuerten Demokratie zum selbststeuernden Kapitalismus: Die Sozialwissenschaften in der Liberalisierung

MPIfG Books

K. van Kersbergen, P. Manow (eds.) Religion, Class Coalitions, and Welfare States Cambridge University Press, 2009

C. Trampusch Der erschöpfte Sozialstaat: Transformation eines Politikfeldes Campus, 2009

M. Busemeyer Wandel trotz Reformstau: Die Politik der beruflichen Bildung seit 1970 Campus, 2009

R. Mayntz Sozialwissenschaftliches Erklären: Probleme der Theoriebildung und Methodologie Campus, 2009

F. W. Scharpf Föderalismusreform: Kein Ausweg aus der Politikverflechtungsfalle? Campus, 2009

B. Harrington Deception: From Ancient Empires to Internet Dating Stanford University Press, 2009

W. Streeck Re-Forming Capitalism: Institutional Change in the German Political Economy Oxford University Press, 2009

Ordering Information

MPIfG Discussion Papers

Order printed copies from the MPIfG (you will be billed) or download PDF file from the MPIfG website (free).

MPIfG Working Papers

Order printed copies from the MPIfG (you will be billed) or download PDF file from the MPIfG website (free).

MPIfG Books

At bookstores; abstracts on the MPIfG website.

www.mpifg.de Go to *Publications*.

New Titles

Consult our website for the most complete and upto-date information about MPIfG publications and publications by MPIfG researchers. To sign up for newsletters and mailings, please go to *Service* on the MPIfG website. Upon request to info@mpifg.de, we will be happy to send you our Recent Publications brochure.

ERPA

MPIfG Discussion Papers and MPIfG Working Papers in the field of European integration research are included in the *European Research Papers Archive* (*ERPA*) which offers full-text search options: http://eiop.or.at/erpa. Das Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung ist eine Einrichtung der Spitzenforschung in den Sozialwissenschaften. Es betreibt anwendungsoffene Grundlagenforschung mit dem Ziel einer empirisch fundierten Theorie der sozialen und politischen Grundlagen moderner Wirtschaftsordnungen. Im Mittelpunkt steht die Untersuchung der Zusammenhänge zwischen ökonomischem, sozialem und politischem Handeln. Mit einem vornehmlich institutionellen Ansatz wird erforscht, wie Märkte und Wirtschaftsorganisationen in historisch-institutionelle, politische und kulturelle Zusammenhänge eingebettet sind, wie sie entstehen und wie sich ihre gesellschaftlichen Kontexte verändern. Das Institut schlägt eine Brücke zwischen Theorie und Politik und leistet einen Beitrag zur politischen Diskussion über zentrale Fragen moderner Gesellschaften.

The Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies conducts advanced basic research on the governance of modern societies. It aims to develop an empirically based theory of the social and political foundations of modern economies by investigating the interrelation between economic, social and political action. Using primarily an institutional approach, it examines how markets and business organizations are embedded in historical-institutional, political and cultural frameworks, how they develop, and how their social contexts change over time. The institute seeks to build a bridge between theory and policy and to contribute to political debate on major challenges facing modern societies.

